1978

Virgil H. Camp v. Deseret Mutual Benefit Association : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for a breach of an insurance contract and an interpretation of certain contract provisions.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was heard by the District Court on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment. From a judgment in favor of the defendant, plaintiff appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in his favor as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case were stipulated to by counsel at the trial of this matter. The question before the trial court was simply an interpretation of a contract provision.

On June 21, 1976, the Plaintiff's 16-year old son, Jeff Camp, was severely injured on a trampoline. He is, as a result of the accident, a quadriplegic. (Escobar Depo. at 5)

From June 21, 1976 to July 8, 1976, Jeff was in the Cottonwood Hospital. From July 8th to October 15, 1976 Jeff was in the University of Utah Medical Center in its physical rehabilitation section under the care and supervision of Dr. Pedro Escobar. (Escobar Depo. at 5 and exhibits attached thereto)

On October 15, 1976, Jeff was released to go home with his parents and family. At the time of his discharge, he was given certain prescriptions for medication, a course of physical therapy with appointments to see his physicians, (see discharge summary attached to Dr. Escobar's Deposition) and prescriptions for medical equipment: a wheelchair, a specially-equipped van, a hospital bed, a commode chair and a bath shelf (See Plaintiff's Complaint, Exhibits B, C, D, and E).

Mr. Virgil Camp, the plaintiff, obtained all of these items prescribed and recommended by the attending physician. He then submitted them to the defendant for payment pursuant to his policy of insurance. (Camp Depo. at 15-18)

The defendant insurance company paid for all of the items prescribed and recommended except for the specially-equipped van. The defendant denied payment on the ground that it was not medical equipment. (Stewart Depo. at 11). The van was equipped with special equipment prescribed and recommended by Jeff's attending physician in order to alleviate his physical impairment -- that of a quadriplegic. The van contained the following: a refrigeration system to reduce body temperature, a citizen's band radio in order to communicate with others in the event of an emergency, a hydraulic lift, which would transport the boy in his wheelchair from the ground level into the

and forward to the front of the van and a special chair for the boy to sit in as a driver, hand controls, power steering, power brakes, and other controls recommended by the manufacturer of equipment for handicapped persons. (Escobar Depo. exhibit D-1 and exhibits B, C, D, and E of Plaintiff's Complaint).

Mr. Camp pursued the matter through the defendant's internal appeal procedure and after it was finally denied by the Company at the highest level, he commenced this action, alleging a breach of his contract with the insurance company.

The simple issue before this Court is whether or not a specially-equipped van, prescribed and recommended by his attending physician, is medical equipment under the terms of the policy.

There are no contested issues of material fact and therefore Summary Judgment pursuant to Rule 56, U.R.C.P. was appropriate in this matter. It is not disputed that the plaintiff's son is a quadriplegic, nor can it be disputed that the defendant refused to pay for the van. Finally, it cannot be disputed that Dr. Escobar, the attending physician to Jeff Camp, prescribed and recommended that the specially-equipped van be obtained.

Exhibit "D" attached to plaintiff's complaint is a prescription for medical equipment. In that exhibit, Dr. Escobar prescribes a van with the appropriate special equipment. In addition, he states in that prescription that the van is medically necessary. Furthermore, in his letter (exhibit "B" attached to plaintiff's complaint), Dr. Escobar clearly recommends the purchase or rental of the van as

essential to the patient's health and well being. In his deposition, Dr. Escobar states that he prescribed the van for Jeff:

Q. May I ask just one further question. Dr. Escobar, did you prescribe for Jeff Camp a van equipped with power steering, power brakes, automatic transmission, refrigeration, hand control system and automatic wheelchair lift and a CB radio?

A. Yes. I think we went over those and mentioned the reasons why I had done that. (Deposition of Dr. Escobar at page 67)

The specially equipped van is a Type II benefit under plaintiff's insurance policy with defendant and is covered to 80% of the cost:

Benefits are payable for expenses incurred by you or your dependents resulting from bodily injury or accident on the basis of 80% of usual, reasonable and customary charges for:

MEDICAL SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT - charges for medical supplies and medical equipment prescribed by a physician, including oxygen; blood and other fluids to be injected into the circulatory system; artificial limbs and eyes; casts, splints, trusses, braces, orthopedic shoes, crutches, surgical dressings; and rental of special medical equipment recommended by a physician, such as a wheelchair, hospital-type bed, iron lung or oxygen equipment.

(Exhibit "A" attached to plaintiff's complaint at pages 14 and 15). (Stewart depo. at 15-16) (emphasis supplied)

The contract states that DMBA will pay 80% of the expenses incurred by the injury "resulting from bodily injury or sickness". One of the expenses detailed are expenses for medical supplies and equipment. The only requirement for coverage by the company for medical equipment is that it be prescribed or recommended by a physician and it be incurred as a result of a bodily injury or sickness.

Here the specially-equipped van was both prescribed and recommended as medical equipment for Jeff by the attending physician, Dr. Escobar. Furthermore, the expense of the van directly relates to a bodily injury incurred by the dependant of the insured. Accordingly, under the express terms of the policy, the van and its expenses are covered.

Clearly, but for the accident and the subsequent quadriplegic condition of Jeff Camp, there would have been no need for a specially-equipped van containing such necessary items for Jeff's condition, such as hydraulic lift, power steering, hand controls, air conditioning for his body, power brakes and a CB radio. Accordingly, such equipment is necessarily medical equipment, as it relates solely to Jeff's condition and injury and is attributable to his medical needs. As it was prescribed and recommended by the physician as medical equipment, the insurer must provide for 80% of its cost pursuant to the terms of the contract.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE SPECIALLY-EQUIPPED VAN IS COVERED BY THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THE CONTRACT

Plaintiff maintains that in order to qualify for benefits under the terms of the contract, it must show the following:

- (a) The expenses occurred as a result of a bodily injury or sickness of the insured or dependent of the insured.
- (b) That the medical equipment be prescribed or recommended by a physician.

Plaintiff has met those requirements. Jeff is the son of the plaintiff and a dependant under the terms of the policy. The expense

of the van was incurred as a result of a bodily injury. A physician has prescribed and recommended the van as medical equipment. Therefore, the defendant is liable for the cost of the van, failure to do so constitutes a breach of contract. In the absence of fraud, Dr. Escobar's statement that the van is medical equipment is controlling and the defendant cannot substitute its own judgment or the judgment of anyone else for that of Dr. Escobar.

In Amicone v. Kennecott Copper Corp., 19 U.2d 297 43, P.2d 130 (this Court faced a similar situation. There an employee maintained that he was entitled to total disability benefits under the employer's plan. The employee's physician testified that the employee qualified for total disability. The Supreme Court found for the defendant employer on the basis of the contract language which stated that the determination of total disability was to be made by a doctor designated by the corporation. (That physician stated that the employee was not totally disabled.) This Court held that where, in the opinion of the physician designated by the employer, the employee was not totally disabled, it was the duty of the employee to show bad faith, fraud, mistake or the like in order to disqualify that opinion. Furthermore, to sustain a showing of bad faith, mistake or fraud, the evidence must establish it by "more than a mere preponderance, it must be overwhelming" (Menke v. Thompson, 140 F.2d 786, 791 (8th Cir. 1940) cited with approval in the Amicone case.)

Here, the contract language states that the expense for medical equipment prescribed or recommended by a physician will be covered by the carrier. Dr. Escobar so prescribed and recommended, and therefore plaintiff has met its burden. Defendant cannot contradict the opinion

of Dr. Escobar as to whether or not someone else views the van as not being medical equipment. If the insurer desired, it could have stated that a physician of its choice would make the determination or that certain criteria be met. The defendant failed to do so and is bound by the language of the contract.

POINT II

INSURANCE CONTRACTS ARE CONSTRUED
AGAINST THE INSURER AND AMBIGUITIES
ARE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF COVERAGE.

It is a fundamental concept of law that insurance contracts are construed in favor of the insured and against the insurer. Browning v. Equitable Life Assurance Co., 94 Utah 532, 172 P.2d 1060 (1945).

In dealing with insurance contracts there are two theories of construction: First, if the terms of the policy are unambiguous, and second, if the terms of the policy are ambiguous.

In the first instance, if the terms of the policy are clear and unambiguous, then it must be enforced. The relevant clause of defendant's contract has been set forth above. Assuming no ambiguity, the insurer must pay 80% of the cost of any item of medical equipment prescribed or recommended by a physician. In this case, the specially-equipped van was both prescribed and recommended by the attending physician, Dr. Escobar, as medical equipment necessary for the injured patient. (See Exhibits "B" and "D" of Plaintiff's Complaint). Furthermore, Dr. Escobar testified that the van was medical equipment.

Accordingly, the term medical equipment under a strict construction, must be construed as in the following case:

In that part of the contract which relates to the "covered" charges for which the defendant

ment" without precise definition. Implicit in this use of this work "equipment" is that the equipment item be diagnosed by his doctor. The air conditioning unit ordered by plaintiff's doctor for the purpose of affording plaintiff relief from his ailment is embraced in the term "equipment" and therefore plaintiff was justified in buying the air conditioning unit. Kennan v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 299 NY Supp. 2d 880, 1969).

The Kennan case was an action to enforce the contract of insurance for payment of necessary equipment under the medical insurance policy. Here the term "equipment" is also used without precise definition except to limit it to medical equipment, a modification clearly implicit in the Kennan case as it refers to equipment ordered by the doctor to relieve an ailment or impairment. In the case at bar, the specially-equipped van was also ordered by the doctor to relieve an ailment or impairment.

In fact, the language of the contract says ". . . and rental of special medical equipment recommended by a physician such as a wheelchair, hospital bed, iron lung or oxygen equipment." Nowhere does the defendant limit it to those items but rather states that it will pay for "special medical equipment," i.e., equipment not normally required. Therefore a specially equipped van for handicapped persons is an item of special medical equipment.

There is no question that the van prescribed and recommended by Dr. Escobar for Jeff was made necessary as a result of the injury and therefore, medically necessary to relieve a physical impairment. Accordingly, if the term "medical equipment", is unambiguous it must be any equipment prescribed and recommended by a physician for the purpose of relieving an ailment or impair-

ment, and therefore defendant must extend coverage.

Alternatively, if there are two different reasonable interpretations of the term "medical equipment," there must be an ambiguity in the term "medical equipment" and the following analysis would apply:

In interpreting an insurance policy, courts have universally resolved ambiguities, if any there be, in a policy strictly against the insurer and in favor of the insured. Christensen v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 21 U.2d 194, 196, 443 P.2d 385 (1968).

The question of ambiguity then is what is "medical equipment"?

In the deposition of Mr. Merwin U. Stewart, Vice President of Deseret Mutual Benefit Association, Mr. Stewart stated as follows:

A. All right, Mr. Stewart. It was on the 14th then or just prior to the 14th of October, 1976 that you became aware of this claim. What was the substance of your reaction to the claim by Mr. Camp?

A. I felt that the claim clearly was not an eligible . . . the claim for a fully equipped van was not an eligible claim under the policy.

Q. What was the basis for that judgment?

A. That it was not medical equipment.

Q. Why was it not medical equipment?

A. An automobile is more generally used for something other than medical. Medical equipment would generally be an item of equipment which is used primarily and almost exclusively for medical purposes and reasons.
(Deposition at page 11)

Q. Before I get onto the other items, so what are you saying then is that instead of just setting forth a prescription or a recommendation from the physician, you are requiring other items to be given to you by the insured, is that correct?

A. Right. I can think of at least two other items that would be required: one is that it be medical equipment; and two, that it be an eligible expense under the policy.
(Deposition at page 18)

Q. Because if I understand you correctly, are you telling me that if it is medically necessary and it is an eligible item of equipment, that it becomes medical equipment? Is that correct?

A. If it's specifically listed as an item of medical equipment, such as a wheelchair or a crutch, there's nothing further that is required. If it is not specifically listed, then it must clearly be an item of medical equipment.
(Deposition at page 19)

Q. Let me just direct the attention to a letter dated November 5, 1976, from you to me where you state, and I will quote, and I'll admit I am excerpting out of the paragraph, but I think it's self-explanatory. I'm reading now: "While the committee is sympathetic with the desirability for adaptation of Jeffrey to a normal life and to the recommendation of his attending therapist and physicians to retain as much independence as possible, the requested equipment is considered to be transportation rather than a device necessary to sustain life or to medically relieve a physical impairment."

Mr. Bushnell: Let's finish the other sentence.

Q. All right. "Such transportation equipment is not provided for in the medical insurance policy."
Now, are these two other additional items criteria for determining whether or not it is medical equipment, a device necessary to sustain life or to medically relieve a physical impairment? (emphasis added.)

A. They would be part of the criteria we would consider. (Deposition at pages 25 and 26) (emphasis added.)

The defendant has not only admitted that the term is ambiguous, by offering a different definition of medical equipment than plaintiff, but has placed additional criteria for determining what is medical equipment. By the fact that such additional criteria were not set forth in the contract and insurance agreement they are void and render defendant's position and reliance upon it unsupportable.

(Fassio v. Montana Physicians' Service, 553 P.2d 998 (Mont.1976)).

At best, defendant has made the term "medical equipment" a floating term to fit whatever the defendant desires to extend or not extend coverage to.

If defendant wished to set forth exactly what is medical equipment and limit it to those items, or establish criteria for determining what is medical equipment, defendant has an obligation to do so or to be held strictly to the terms of the policy:

The language of these insurance contracts are carefully chosen. This was done in the absence of the Fassios and used to carefully limit and protect the carrier, Montana Physicians' Service, against extended liability. If Montana Physicians' Service wishes to exclude or limit the risk contracted for it, then let them do so in words that leave no doubt. The law is clear that in this jurisdiction that exclusion clauses are construed narrowly against the insurer. Fassios v. Montana Physicians' Service, 553 P.2d 998, 1,000 (Montana, 1976).

In that case, as here, defendant is in the position of writing the terms of the policy. Plaintiff has had no role in drafting this document and, should defendant wish to exclude a specially-equipped van or should it desire to specifically limit the policy coverage to certain items of medical equipment or establish a criteria for eligibility of "Medical expenses", then it must do so.

In State Farm v. Jacober, 514 P.2d 953 (Cal. 1973), the California Supreme Court held that when an exclusionary clause is subject to different reasonable meanings, the insured's view prevails:

For under settled principles so long as coverage is available under any reasonable interpretation of an ambiguous clause, the insurer cannot escape liability. . . . so long as there is any other reasonable interpretation under which recovery would be permitted in the instant case if semantically permissible, (an insurance) contract will be given such construction as will fairly achieve its object of securing indemnity to the insured to the losses to which the insurance relates. Id. at 954, 959.

Here, the term "medical equipment" is subject to at least two different reasonable interpretations: the plaintiff uses it as any equipment prescribed or recommended by the physician that is required or necessary for the patient as a result of the injury or condition. This is clearly the purpose for which the policy was obtained -- to insure against any health or medical expense. But for Jeff's injury, the specially-equipped van would not be necessary. Additionally, Dr. Escobar stated that in his opinion, the van was medically necessary for Jeff. (Dr. Escobar's Deposition at Page 66 and prescription, Exhibit "D" to Plaintiff's Complaint). As the Utah Supreme Court has said:

This jurisdiction, like many others, has declared in favor of a liberal construction in favor of the insured to accomplish the purpose for which the insurance was taken out and the premiums paid. Browning, supra at 562.

Defendant, on the other hand, has viewed medical equipment as:

- (a) something necessary to sustain life, (Stewart Depo. at 26);
- (b) to medically relieve a physical impairment (Stewart Depo. at 26); or
- (c) something provided in a hospital to patients in a hospital (Stewart Depo. at 19).

Under Plaintiff's theory, a specially-equipped van would be an eligible expense. In fact, under at least one of defendant's three theories, the van would qualify. Defendant states that the item must be necessary to "medically relieve a physical impairment". The van is clearly there to relieve physical impairment, the loss of the hands, legs and other bodily functions from the neck down of Jeff Camp. It is exactly the same function as that of a wheelchair which defendant admits to cover.

In evaluating this contention, we begin with the fundamental principle that an insurer cannot escape its basic duty to insure by means of an exclusionary clause that is unclear. As we have declared time and again "any exception to the performance of the basic underlying obligation must be so stated as to clearly apprise the insured of its effects". [citations omitted]

Thus, the burden rests upon the insurer to place acceptance and exclusions in clear and unmistakable language. [citations omitted]

The exclusionary clause must be conspicuous, plain and clear. [emphasis in original]
State Farm Mutual v. Jacober, Id. at 958

Accordingly, defendant has the obligation to set forth its contract in clear and unambiguous language. If it does not, then the insurer must have the policy construed against it. In this case, as there is more than one reasonable construction of the term "medical equipment", the construction of the insured must prevail and the insurer is liable for the cost of this equipment.

CONCLUSION

We need not go into the subject of the advancement of technology and modern science. We need not deal with the question of whether or

not a van is the modern replacement of a wheelchair or where this ends if the insurance company must pay for this van.

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