1978

Virgil H. Camp v. Deseret Mutual Benefit Association : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff sued to obtain judgment that a certain van was "medical equipment" under an insurance certificate provided by the defendants.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

At the trial, the matter was submitted on certain agreed evidence and the court, the Honorable James S. Sawaya, gave judgment for defendants.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek an order affirming the judgment below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff's teenage son, Jeff Camp, suffered a neck injury in 1976 while jumping on a trampoline. As a result of the injury, Jeff is now paralyzed completely up to the level of the nerves from the sixth or seventh cervical vertebrae, which means that he has no voluntary control of his legs or torso and that his arms and

shoulders are disabled, although some function remains. As a dependent of the plaintiff, Jeff had health insurance under a certificate of insurance issued by Deseret Mutual Benefit Association by virtue of the plaintiff's employment as an insurance agent associated with Beneficial Life Insurance Co. The certificate of insurance under which Jeff was covered provided benefits in relevant part as follows:

TYPE II BENEFITS

Benefits are payable for expenses incurred by you or your dependent resulting from bodily injury or sickness on the basis of 80% of usual, reasonable and customary charges for:

. . . .

6. MEDICAL SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT--charges for medical supplies and medical equipment prescribed by a physician including oxygen; blood and other fluids to be injected into the circulatory system; artificial limbs and eyes; casts, splints, trusses, braces, orthopedic shoes, crutches, surgical dressings; and rental of special medical equipment recommended by a physician such as a wheelchair, hospital type bed, iron lung or oxygen equipment.

7. AMBULANCE--charges for room and board incurred while confined in an Extended Care Facility, provided such confinement is for treatment of an acute illness or injury, commences within five days after discharge from a hospital and such confinement is recommended by a physician for purposes of convalescing from such bodily injury or sickness. Custodial care is ineligible for benefit.

. . . .

12. TRANSPORTATION--charges for necessary transportation by railroad or regularly scheduled airline to and from the nearest facility equipped to furnish necessary medical treatment not otherwise obtainable. [Insurance certificate, Exhibit A to the complaint, at 14-16, R 20-21]

The term "custodial care", mentioned in subpart 8 of the above excerpt from the certificate, is defined on page 51 of the insurance certificate as follows:

The term custodial care as used in this booklet means maintenance of a patient beyond the acute phase of injury or sickness. [R-38]

After the accident, Jeff spent about a month at Cottonwood Hospital and then was transferred to University Medical Center, where he stayed from late July, 1976, until his discharge on October 15, 1976. While at the University Medical Center, Jeff was under the care of a rehabilitative medicine team, including Dr. Pedro Escobar, his attending physician, a specialist in rehabilitative medicine; Jim Woolsey, a social worker; and others, including a psychologist, a physical therapist, and other doctors.

Some time prior to Jeff's discharge, plaintiff asked Woolsey, the social worker, and other members of the team about the care of Jeff which would be necessary when Jeff went home. A member of the team suggested that Dr. Escobar might recommend a specially-equipped van, to enable Jeff to travel about. Woolsey advised the plaintiff, however, that the expense of purchasing such a van would probably not be reimbursed by plaintiff's health insurance. The following ensued:

Q. (By Mr. Bushnell) It may be repetitious, but go ahead, answer.

A. (By Mr. Woolsey) Okay, that I was not sure if the insurance company would cover the purchase of a van and equipment.

Q. What did he [Mr. Camp] say to that?

A. Well, as I recall, he said, I think, that they, the insurance company, if they are not covering this kind of thing that they ought to and I would like to purchase it, to see.

. . .

Q. Fine. And you are the one that put in
Deseret Mutual where I say Agency to be billed?

*Sponsored by the S.J. Quisenberry Foundation for development of the Utah State Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

A. Right.

Q. You did that even though you weren't sure whether it was covered or not?

A. True.

. . .

Q. Why did you have these reservations in your mind as whether they would approve it or not?

A. Well because from experience here on rehabilitation, insurance companies, other insurance companies have not, you know, covered a vehicle, purchase of a car or a van for a patient. The only agencies that have done anything in that regard are the State Division of Vocational Rehabilitation who purchased some adaptive equipment for the patient, such as hand controls for the hydraulic lift, if the patient is a quadriplegic and they are approached as a last resort for financial help to get these things.

. . .

Q. Do you know of any instances where an insurance company has in fact approved and purchased a motor vehicle itself?

A. Not with my experience here, I haven't.
[Woolsey deposition at 17-19.]

Later, when Jeff's discharge from the hospital was near, plaintiff prepared a form of letter for the signature of Dr. Escobar, recommending certain equipment for Jeff. The purpose of this letter was to support an insurance claim for the equipment plaintiff and his family would need to care for Jeff:

Q. [Mr. Bushnell] Is it fair, based on what you've said, to say then that you initiated the precise, specific request to the doctor for a letter prescribing the van so you could present it to the insurance company?

A. [Mr. Camp] Prescribing all the equipment, the answer is yes.

Q. Including the van?

A. Including the van. [Deposition of Camp at 18.]

In response to plaintiff's request, Dr. Escobar wrote a letter, dated October 11, 1977, in which he lists the equipment which -

[W]ill be absolutely essential in order for Jeff to function as independently as possible.

1. A van equipped with power steering . . . and an automatic wheel chair lift.
2. A standard wheelchair
3. An automatic hospital bed . . .
4. A large tire commode chair . . .
5. A bath shelf . . .

(Exhibit D-1, deposition of Escobar)

Plaintiff later filed his claim with DMBA and was reimbursed for all of the items mentioned in Dr. Escobar's letter, except for the specially equipped van, with respect to which the company denied his claim. Thereafter, plaintiff filed this suit.

Defendants took the depositions of Camp, Woolsey and Escobar during the pendency of this action. Dr. Escobar testified that there was no medical necessity for the van; he stated that:

Q. [Mr. Bushnell] It is true that the van is not for medication or for treatment of any physical condition of the plaintiff?

A. [Dr. Escobar] Yes, sir.

Q. It is just what it purports to be-- transportation.

A. To the hospital, to school.

Q. It is not like braces, and other things that you have to have with reference to bodily function; it is for transportation?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have emphasized, however, that having the availability of a van does serve the emotional needs of the patient?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You don't expect the van to be of any assistance so far as rehabilitation physically is concerned?

A. Of his physical condition, no, but it will permit him to pursue education.
[Deposition of Escobar at 56-57] (emphasis added)

Another objective of the van is to provide recreation.

Deposition of Escobar at 63 line 22.

At the trial, it was stipulated that the deposition of Escobar, Camp, Woolsey and Stewart should be received in evidence, together with the exhibits to the complaint and affidavits of Lorin Miles and Stewart. The effect of the stipulation was to allow the trial court to weigh the evidence, rather than be restricted by the rules applicable to summary judgment. (R-322) After hearing argument, the trial court ordered that judgment enter for defendants, finding as a matter of fact and law that the requested equipment was not "medical equipment" as provided by the contract. (R 131-33)

POINT I

THE MERE RECOMMENDATION BY A PHYSICIAN OF
EQUIPMENT FOR A PATIENT DOES NOT MAKE THE
EQUIPMENT MEDICAL IN NA RE.

The insurance contract relied upon by the plaintiffs refers to "special medical equipment" (in contrast with Kennen v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 59 Misc. 2d 536, 299 N.Y.S.2d 880 (1969), which referred to "equipment", a broader term than the phrase "medical equipment"). Several cases have considered the meaning of the adjective medical in the context of services or equipment recommended by a physician. The most recent of these, Savaria v. DiSano, 373 A.2d 820 (R.I. 1977) considered a claim of a disabled employee who sought to be provided with an electric wheelchair and an automatic elevator. The court sustained the Rhode Island workmen's compensation commission's order granting the wheelchair and denying the elevator. The employee's physician had remarked with respect to the elevator that it would give the employee some change of environment and a measure of safety in moving about. On the other hand, however, the physician stated that the employee's health would not be improved nor his mobility increased. The workman's compensation commission reasoned in denying the elevator that it would not relieve the effects of the injury but that the elevator was rather more a convenience item. In sustaining the Workman's Compensation Commission the court reasoned,

In short, it is not enough that the means used to relieve the employee from the effects of the injury have been prescribed by his physician to be chargeable to the employer under the statute, they must be medical in nature as well. . . . In this case . . . the benefit is indubitably convenient and perhaps even necessary to relieve the employee from the effects of his injury but there is nothing in this record that compelled the commission to conclude that in the circumstances described the elevator or lift was medical in nature. 373 A.2d at 820, 822. [emphasis supplied]

In a similar case, Lutman v. American Shoe Mach. Co., 151 S.W.2d 701 (Mo.App. 1941) the question was whether a physician had treated the plaintiff for an injury within a period of limitations. The court held that the doctors recommending to the patient that he wear a mask to protect him from dust was not medical treatment. The court reasoned as follows:

As to Dr. Reuter's advice that the respondent be taken off the work in question or be given a mask to wear 'if the dust was aggravating him', we do not believe it can reasonably be said that such advice was 'medical treatment.' It is not even suggested that medicine or drugs were advised or given by the doctor. It certainly was not surgical treatment' or 'hospital treatment'. Furthermore the advice was not given to cure and relieve the effects of the injury but was for the purpose of preventing future aggravation thereof. The grouping of the words "medical, surgical and hospital treatment" by the legislature shows plainly what the lawmakers had in mind and clearly does not include mere diagnosis, nor can it be said to include advice that could be given by a layman. The above words not being of a peculiar or technical nature 'shall be taken in their plain and ordinary and usual sense.' 151 S.W.2d 701, 709 (emphasis added)

The provision of a automobile vehicle such as a van to the plaintiff's son, Jeff, is like the advice given by the doctor to the plaintiff Lutman, that Lutman should wear a face mask or

working around dust. There is no special medical knowledge involved in the recommendation in either case; for Jeff a van is certainly a source of independence, convenience, and recreation but that is exactly the function that automobiles provide for all of us.

A Texas court considered the question of what is "medical" in Red v. Group Medical and Surgical Service, 298 S.W.2d 623 (Tex. Civ. App. 1957). A child who had suffered from spinal meningitis was rendered deaf by the disease. The attending physician recommended that the child be entered as a student at the Houston School for Deaf Children. The plaintiff sought to obtain a court order that the matter was covered under a clause of the health insurance contract providing for payment of fees of "the attending physician and consulting physician and specialists to whom the patient may be referred". The court rejected the notion that a lip reading instructor was a specialist under the contract, stating,--

We do not think that the educational, schooling, or training fees paid by plaintiff for teaching his son the new skill of lip reading fall within the insuring clause of the contract in that even though they be classed as professional fees of specialists, the policy still does not contemplate fees of other than medical or surgical specialists--certainly not those of educational instructors of any class.

The court remarked that part of its reasoning was based on the finding of the doctor as follows--

The doctor testified that on his examination and diagnosis he found the hearing nerves completely

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

destroyed and that there was nothing he could do from a medical standpoint to cure the nerve condition and restore the hearing.
298 S.W.2d 623, 625, 626.

Dr. Escobar testified that the van recommended for Jeff would not improve Jeff's physical condition; rather it would serve to aid him in his education and recreation. As in the Red case, these objectives are not medical and therefore are not comprehended in the phrase "medical equipment".

POINT II

THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE INSURANCE CERTIFICATE DOES NOT INCLUDE AN AUTOMOBILE OR VAN, NOR DOES IT INCLUDE THE SPECIAL EQUIPMENT CLAIMED BY PLAINTIFF WITH RESPECT TO THE VAN.

Considered as an abstract proposition it is clear that an automobile or van or bus is not a medical apparatus or device. The old definition of "van", which is a contraction of the word "caravan," was "an enclosed wagon or motortruck used for transportation of goods or animals." Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary 1292 (1975). There is a more recent usage of the term "van" referring to a type of vehicle which was recently developed for use as a light truck, which is now used for personal transportation like an ordinary automobile. Even so the ordinarily understood function of a van or of an automobile is for transportation, for convenience, perhaps for recreation, perhaps for hauling goods, but not for any medical purpose. The plaintiff in Nallan v. Motion Picture Studio

Mechanic Union Local No. 52, 49 App. Div. 2d 365, 375 NYS 2d 164 (1975) reversed on other grounds, 40 NY 2d 1042, 360 NE 2d 353 (1976) sought to receive workmen compensation coverage for his transportation expense. The main point in which the case turned and which it was ultimately reversed was whether or not he was an employee of the union. A subsidiary point was however that the plaintiff was not entitled to be provided with an automobile. The court reasoned as follows:

"A motor vehicle is not a medical apparatus or device within the scope of Section 13 of the Workmen's Compensation Law."

There are three cases in holding that under New York Workmen's Compensation Law an automobile is not a medical apparatus or device. Nallan v. Motion Pictures Studio
Mechanic Union Local No. 52, supra, De Croix v. N. Sumergrade & Sons, 20 App. Div. 2d 735, 246 NYS 2d 852; and Carniato v. Wheeler Corporation, 7 App. Div. 2d 328, 183 NYS 2d 298. The Nallan case has some close analogies to the present case; in it the plaintiff was a paraplegic, and using his automobile, he was able to be partially active, to hold down a job and so forth. Notwithstanding the circumstances, the court rejected his claim for the automobile. The reasoning of the two prior cases, De Croix and Carniato, was that "the enumeration of medical aids expressed in this statutory form would under ordinary canons of construction exclude non-medical instruments such as a motor vehicle." De Croix v. N. Sumergrade & Sons, 20 App. Div. 2d 735

The thinking of the New York workmen's compensation cases is somewhat like that in the Medicare regulations. The definition of medical equipment is given as follows therein:

Durable medical equipment is equipment which (1) can withstand repeated use, (2) is primarily and customarily used to serve a medical purpose, (3) is generally not useful to a person in the absence of illness or injury, and (4) is appropriate for use in the home.

. . . .

Equipment Presumptively Medical. -- Items such as wheelchairs and hospital beds are presumptively medical in nature

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